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Direct Phone: 206.447.2905 
Fax: 206.749.1915 
pat.schneider@foster.com 

December 4, 2020 

12/03/2020 Internal Review Draft  
BY EMAIL TO Bio.Park@mercergov.org  

Bio Park, City Attorney 
City of Mercer Island 
9611 SE 36th Street 
Mercer Island, WA 98040 

Re: Mercer Island Transit Integration Project – Sound Transit’s reply to your November 5th letter 

Dear Bio: 

I write on behalf of Sound Transit, to reply to your letter to me dated November 5, 2020.  

Your letter states that it is responding to my letter dated October 20, 2020, but your letter does 
not do so.  My letter explained at length how the City is violating the Settlement Agreement by asserting 
that Sound Transit must convey property to the City that Sound Transit does not yet own or the City will 
require a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for the Transit Integration Project (“Project”).  Your letter’s 
response is a portion of one sentence on page 2: “. . . we do not believe your interpretation is 
correct . . .”

The lack of analysis or explanation in your letter simply confirms the violation: the Settlement 
Agreement says that the City will require only non-discretionary permits and will issue them within ten 
days of receiving complete applications, but a CUP is a discretionary permit that requires months to 
process.

Instead of attempting to explain how a CUP does not violate the Settlement Agreement, the bulk 
of your letter addresses a non-issue: “As you know, the City has, for months, alerted Sound Transit of 
the need to convey the property as ROW before a ROW permit could be issued.”  

Sound Transit needs several permits for Project work that must be constructed both within the 
City’s existing right-of-way and on two adjacent private properties, the Snethen/Hancock and Woo 
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properties, that may become right-of-way in the future.  When Sound Transit commenced the permitting 
process with the City, Sound Transit and City staff agreed that the list of permits necessary for the work 
would include both a ROW permit and Site Development Permit, and staff agreed that the Site 
Development Permit would serve as a “master permit” for the Project.  Both of these are non-
discretionary permits.  On September 9, however, Patrick Yamashita sent a revised permitting schedule 
and list to Sound Transit that did not include the Site Development Permit.  On September 22, Matthew 
Below emailed Patrick asking him to confirm that this schedule was correct, and Patrick responded on 
September 23: “That’s correct.  I realized that all of that work should fall under the ROW permit so I 
removed the Site Development permit from the list.”  In other words, the City unilaterally decided not to 
require a Site Development Permit and to use a ROW permit as a master permit for the Project.   

Your letter now asserts that there is a “need to convey the property as ROW before a ROW 
permit could be issued.”  The result of this assertion is that the City now claims it will not issue the 
ROW permit unless Sound Transit first dedicates to the City private property that it does not yet own.
There is no basis in the City code for this assertion. See, e.g., MICC 19.09.A1.  City staff made a 
decision about how to organize its review of Sound Transit’s applications, and this decision is not 
justification for violating the Settlement Agreement.  The issue addressed at length in your letter is a 
non-issue because the code only requires a ROW permit for work within right-of-way, not within private 
property that may become right-of-way.  The City can use another non-discretionary permit, such as a 
Site Development Permit, as the master permit for the Project, or can simply proceed without the use of 
a master permit.   

Your letter also states your understanding that “not until September 22, 2020, did Sound Transit 
staff state their opinion that the lots and improvements related to the right of way (“ROW”) be conveyed 
after construction was completed.”  Sound Transit staff did discuss this issue with City staff on that date, 
but also in a prior meeting on June 29, 2020, when they also discussed conveying the two private 
properties by quitclaim deed for the City to maintain.   

Sound Transit is working to obtain title to both the Snethen/Hancock and Woo properties in the 
first quarter of 2021.  The construction schedule for East Link requires the City to issue the non-
discretionary permits for the Project before acquisition will be complete.  Sound Transit has obtained 
written permission from both private property owners to apply for permits for the Project, and Sound 
Transit will own or have possession and use of both properties before construction begins.  Meanwhile, 
Sound Transit cannot convey property to the City that Sound Transit does not yet own. 

Sound Transit regularly conveys property to cities for right-of-way, along with the improvements 
that Sound Transit constructs, but Sound Transit does so upon the conclusion of construction and 
acceptance of the improvements by the city.  This timing is manifestly in a city’s interest, since it 
ensures that the facilities are properly constructed and operational before the city accepts ownership and 
responsibility.
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Attached to this letter are three examples of deeds conveying such properties and improvements 
to other cities: a 2009 deed to SeaTac; a 2012 deed to Seattle; and a 2020 deed to Bellevue.  In each of 
these examples, Sound Transit conveyed the property as right-of-way after completion of construction 
and acceptance of the improvements.  Sound Transit is prepared to similarly convey the subject 
properties to the City as right-of-way after completion of construction and acceptance of the 
improvements by the City.  Any such conveyance or dedication must be done in compliance with 
applicable Federal and State requirements that apply to Sound Transit’s disposition of property.   

Furthermore, Sound Transit is not, as you assert, “refusing to discuss the terms of Sound 
Transit’s reimbursement to the City of the costs of operating the facilities.”  Sound Transit staff will 
discuss this issue with City staff, but this issue is unrelated to the City’s obligation to issue permits in 
compliance with the Settlement Agreement, and it is an issue without urgency since Sound Transit will 
remain responsible for the facilities until agreement is reached.     

Sound Transit has applied for permits for the Project, the City deemed the applications complete 
as of December 1, and the Settlement Agreement requires the City to issue decisions on the applications 
by December 10.  As stated in my last letter, Sound Transit expects the City to abide by the Settlement 
Agreement and neither require a CUP nor prohibit construction from beginning pending negotiation of 
terms and costs of future conveyances.  

Sincerely,

FOSTER GARVEY PC 

Patrick J. Schneider 
Principal

cc: Stephen Sheehy, Managing Legal Counsel 
Malaika Eaton (by email) 




































